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The New York State Department of Transportation (NYSDOT) and the Federal Highway
Administration (FHWA) have supported cultural resource surveying since the 1970°s as part of its develop-
ment of transportation projects. As part of the Cultural Resource Evaluation Program, NYSDOT has the
State Education Department conduct more than one hundred cultural resource surveys annually. Through
these surveys the NYSDOT and FHWA provide a significant contribution to New York State’s knowledge
about historic buildings, bridges and other structures, districts, and archaeological sites.

Karen McCann
Environment Analysis Bureau
New York State Department of Transportation
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PREFACE

The New York State Museum’s Cultural Resource Survey Program (CRSP) has provided cultural resource
management services to other New York State agencies for almost 30 years. During this time, the program
has completed thousands of projects at all phases of work (reconnaissance survey, site examinations, archae-
ological mitigation, HABS/HEAR documentation, historical contexts, etc.) This work has been done across
the state by the Museum and also by other institutions under contract to the State Education Department, the
Museum’s parent agency.

CRSP is a statewide research program of the Museum. While the primary focus is assisting agencies to meet
their cultural resource management (CRM) responsibilities, the program also contributes to the Museum’s
research and collections program by substantially adding to our understanding of human history in New
York State. The collections generated by the program are among the fastest growing in the Museum. As
part of the Museum’s permanent collections, they are available to the archaeological research community
for additional study and are curated by the Museum for future generations of researchers.

As the largest program of its kind, CRSP has had important influences on the development of CRM in New
York State. For many years the principal CRSP contractor has been the Binghamton University (SUNY)
Research Foundation. Along with its subcontractors, University at Buffalo’s Archaeological Survey and
Stony Brook University’s Institute for Long Island Archaeology, Binghamton’s Public Archaeology Facility
has served as training grounds for students pursuing careers in CRM. Many of the students trained in the-
ses programs are employed in CRM programs throughout the eastern United States. Collections generated
by the university programs during CRSP projects have been used in numerous masters theses and doctoral
dissertations at those institutions.

A major goal of CRSP is the dissemination of the knowledge it generates. This goal is met to some extent
by an active program of exhibits, public and professional lectures, web sites, and professional publications.
An example of the latter is New York State Museum Bulletin 495: Nineteenth- and Early Twentieth-Century
Domestic Site Archaeology in New York State. The chapters of this edited volume are based on CRM inves-
tigations, many of which were done under CRSP. The volume also demonstrates the importance of CRSP in
the development of archaeological research on this period of time in New York.

A written report is generated for every project completed by CRSP, but these reports have a very limited dis-
tribution. One copy of each report is kept by the Museum, and in the case of contracted projects, by the insti-
tution that did the work. Other copies are submitted to the New York State Historic Preservation Office
(SHPO) and the client agency. Copies at the Museum, the various SUNY programs, and SHPO are avail-
able to professional archaeologists and students for research. This level of distribution is adequate for most
reports. However, there has been a long-standing interest in making the reports from selected projects more
widely available. Through the generosity of the New York State Department of Transportation and the
Federal Highway Administration, this is the first report to be published by the Museum for that purpose.
And, this is an excellent report to begin with. Written by Museum archaeologist Joseph Sopko, the report
highlights one of CRSP’s research strengths, historical archaeology.

Through a combination of extensive archival research, field mapping, and excavations, Sopko has brought
to life the history of an important 19th _and early 20t131 —century industry in the Hudson River valley. As a
result of his archival research, Sopko is able to relate the working conditions at the New York Knife
Company factory, relationships between workers and management, and the sometimes-contentious relations
between the workers themselves. The level of detail assembled about working conditions at the factory is
truly impressive. As I sit here tapping the keyboard of a computer in a padded chair inside a thoroughly
chilled late 20th —century office building on a very hot August 2001 morning, I marvel at the fortitude of

Xii



the men, women, and children who worked 60-hour weeks year round in what must have been unbearable
and in many cases illegal conditions by current standards.

Mapping and excavations combined with archival research have allowed Sopko to reconstruct the history of
the factory’s physical plant and to document the knife-manufacturing process and how that process changed
during the history of the factory. The archaeological research enhances information available from written
records and provides glimpses of the activities of workers that would not otherwise be available. The col-
lections of artifacts from the excavations along with field and laboratory notes now constitute part of the
Museum’s archaeological collections. This collection, perhaps the only archaeological collection of its kind

held by a public New York institution, ensures that additional research on the manufacturing process will be
possible.

This is the first of what I hope will be a continuing series of published monographs on important and broad-
ly interesting projects done by CRSP under the sponsorship of the New York Department of Transportation
and Federal Highway Administration. By highlighting little known and understood aspects of the history of
human life in New York, the wide distribution of these monographs will ensure that the work done by the
CRSP and its sponsoring agencies will benefit larger numbers of the People of the State of New York

John P. Hart
Director of Research & Collections
New York State Museum
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MANAGEMENT SUMMARY
DOT PIN & BIN. PIN 8021.40.101 BIN 1026680 OPRHP PR# 98 PR3690

DOT Project Goal. Replace existing bridge on NY 52 over the Wallkill River, and construction of equipment
access road in the southeast quadrant via federal funding.

Cultural Resource Survey Type. Site examination.
Site Identification. NYSM Site 10935, the New York Knife Company factory site.

Location. NY 52 over the Wallkill River in the village of Walden (07144), in the town of Montgomery (07112),
Orange County (071), New York.

Project Limits. Length of proposed L-shaped access road approximately 90 m (295 ft), width, 18 m (15 ft);
Area, 0.16 hectares (0.40 acres).

USGS Quadrangle. 1957 7.5 minute Walden, New York.

Context Statement. The New York Knife Company factory operated for a 75-year period from 1856 to 1931 in the
village of Walden. The factory underwent five major expansions that served to moderize and reorganize the pro-
duction sequence for the manufacturing of jackknives and table cutlery. The expansion of the New York Knife
Company’s factory was accompanied by an increase in the number of workers, the amount of raw materials used,
and the amount of jackknives and table cutlery produced. The New York Knife Company continued to operate until
1931, when it was finally forced to shut down its operation due to the 1929 stock market crash and the Great
Depression. The change in size, spatial organization of the factory, and methods of production document the rise of
the industrial-era working class through the shift from hand to mass production.

Description of Site and Testing Results. Fourteen units and one shovel test pit (STP) were excavated in the project
area to define the New York Knife Company factory site boundaries and determine the stratigraphic sequence, the
spatial organization, and activity areas on the site. The archaeological testing at the New York Knife Company fac-
tory site revealed temporally distinct stratigraphic deposits associated with the expansion of the factory and produc-
tion of jackknives and table cutlery. The four periods represented in the archaeological record date from 1856 to
1880, 1880 to 1887, 1900 to 1905, and 1905 to 1931. Artifacts associated with the knife manufacturing process, knife
parts, architectural artifacts, and domestic artifacts were recovered from all of the periods. The majority of the arti-
facts were recovered from the 1905 to 1931 period, with lower amounts from the 1900 to 1905 and 1856 to 1880
periods. The fewest artifacts were recovered from the 1880 to 1887 deposits. A total of 1,424 artifacts were recov-
ered from the New York Knife Company factory site. Seventy-two percent of the site assemblage, or 1,028 artifacts,
are associated with the jackknife and table cutlery manufacturing process. These artifacts represent five categories:
raw materials, production scrap, knife parts, assembled parts, and tools and machinery, which reflect the entire
process of knife manufacturing. The rest of the assemblage is composed of 21% architectural, 6% domestic, and 1%
miscellaneous artifacts.

Significance Statement.

Integrity. The Office of Parks Recreation and Historic Preservation Fields Services Bureau determined the New York
Knife Company factory complex eligible for the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion D, as a site that
has yielded important information in history. The New York Knife Company factory site exhibits integrity of loca-
tion, design, material, and associations. Located in the village of Walden, in the town of Montgomery, Orange
County, New York, the New York Knife Company factory site represents the shift from the hand production of knives
by individual craftsmen to the mass production of knives. The economic and social change associated with this shift
has been documented in the construction and arrangement of the factory, the changes in the spatial organization of
the factory, and the changes in the knife production process at the site.
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Significance of Site/Research Topics. The historical documentation and archaeological testing identified 4 periods of
production that correlate with changes in the New York Knife Company factory size, spatial organization, and meth-
ods of production. The first period of production, from 1856 to 1880, represents the initial establishment of the fac-
tory in the village of Walden in a single building and the hand production of knives by craftsmen. During this peri-
od, the workers literally owned the means of production, since the owners of the factory were also required to be
workers. The second period, from 1880 to 1887, is characterized by the expansion of the knife factory from 1 to 10
buildings, an increase in the number of employees from 54 to 230, and the reorganization of the knife manufactur-
ing process. During the first expansion, separate buildings were constructed for the storage of raw materials and fin-
ished products; forging, tempering, and hardening of the blades and end springs; grinding; and handle production and
finishing. The first expansion represents the start of work segmentation replacing craftsmen with machinery and
laborers. The period, from 1900 to 1905, is characterized by the expansion of the factory from 10 to 26 buildings, an
increase in the labor force from 230 to 400 workers, and the further reorganization and modernization of the knife
manufacturing process. Further segmentation of the work process occurred as each step of the knife manufacturing
process was carried out either in separate buildings or on different floors within the same building. This is related to
the mass production of jackknives and table cutlery and the continuing replacement of craftsmen by machines and
laborers. Finally, the fourth period of production, from 1905 to 1931, is characterized by the total segmentation of
the knife manufacturing process, the mass production of knives, and the economic decline of the New York Knife
Company. Increased competition with a number of knife factories that continued to modernize their machinery and
manufacturing process after World War I and the Great Depression resulted in the closing of the New York Knife
Company.

The transformation from hand production to mass production of goods was accompanied by changes in the
size and spatial organization of the factories, the change in the size and specialization of the workforce, and the devel-
opment and rise of the working class. The details of this transformation, the documentation of the industrial adapta-
tions to the changing production techniques and market demands, and the specific spatial changes within the facto-
ry that resulted have been the subjects of investigation at the New York Knife Company factory site.

Potential Impacts. A portion of the New York Knife Company factory site is within the current project area. The pro-
posed work scope will only impact the site if the grading in the upper portion of the project area extends below 1.5
m (5 ft). The filling in of the lower portion of the project area will not negatively impact the archaeological resources
but aid in their preservation.

Recommendations. If the grading of the project area in the location of the upper factory complex extends below 1.5
m (5 ft), this area should be monitored during construction to locate and document any features or deposits associat-
ed with the New York Knife Company factory. The filling in of the lower portion of the project area should protect
the subsurface deposits; however, care should be taken in the location of the extant eastern wall of Feature 4 and the
inscribed concrete slab, the brick-and-stone—covered arch, and the east and west walls of Feature 5 so they are not
damaged during the deposition of fill for the construction of the access road.

Author/Institution. Joseph Sopko, New York State Museum Cultural Resource Survey.
Date of Report. December 7, 2000.

Sponsor. New York State Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration.



INTRODUCTION

The reconnaissance survey for PIN 8021.40.101, NY
52 over the Wallkill River, village of Walden, Town of
Montgomery, Orange County, New York, was conducted
in July of 1999 (Figure 1). The project consists of the
replacement of the BIN 1026680 over the Wallkill River.
As a part of the project, an equipment access road will be
constructed in the southeast quadrant 45 m (148 ft) south
of the intersection of NY 52 and Orchard Street. The
access road extends 40 m (131 ft) west from Orchard
Street to the base of the slope and then 50 m (164 ft) north
to the bridge along the Wallkill River. The construction of
the access road consists of the grading of the upper por-
tion of the slope and the deposition of soil on the lower
portion of the slope and along the Wallkill River (Photos
1-6). The 1999 survey conducted by the State University
of New York at Stony Brook identified extant ruins of the
New York Knife Company factory in and adjacent to the
project area. The subsurface testing consisted of the exca-
vation of one STP within the ruins of the knife factory in
the project area. The investigation identified the presence
of substantial above-and below-ground structural remains
and subsurface deposits and artifacts associated with the
production of jackknives during the late nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries (Merwin 1999). The Office of
Parks Recreation and Historic Preservation Fields
Services Bureau determined the New York Knife
Company complex eligible for the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion D, as a site that has yield-
ed important information in history (Pierpont, Appendix
C.). Region 8 of the New York State Department of
Transportation requested that a site exam of NYSM Site
10935 be conducted to further document the above-and
below-ground structural features and the archaeological
deposits in and immediately adjacent to the project area.
This report will summarize the previous work and discuss
the site examination of the New York Knife Company
factory site conducted by the staff of the New York State
Museum in September of 2000 (Appendix C, Form A).

New York State Museum Site 10935, New York Knife
Company factory site

Location. The New York Knife Company factory site is
located on the southeast side of the intersection of NY 52
and Orchard Street on the east side of the Wallkill River
in the village of Walden, Town of Montgomery, Orange
County New York.

Summary of Historic Background. The New York Knife
Company was originally established in 1852 in
Matteawan, Dutchess County. The company purchased
the site of the Scofield, Capron, and Gowdy cloth mill on
the Wallkill River in the village of Walden, Orange
County, in 1856. The New York Knife Company factory
is present on the 1859 map of Orange and Rockland
Counties and on the 1875 Atlas of Orange County as a
single building with an extensive millrace. The 1887
Burleigh panoramic map of the village of Walden indi-
cates that the factory was expanded between 1875 and
1887. The factory in the 1887 panoramic view consists of
a large building with two large wings on the northeast and
northwest corners and a series of buildings along Orchard
Street. The addition on the west side along the Wallkill
River consists of a single one-and-a-half-story building
that stretches from the original building to the bridge. The
factory appears to have been expanded again during the
period from 1887 to 1903, based on the size and shape of
the New York Knife Company factory on the 1903 Atlas
of Orange County. The growth during this period consist-
ed of the expansion of the wing on the northeast side of
the factory and a building that connected the two wings
on the north end by the bridge. The factory at the height
of its production extended 130 m (425 ft) from north to
south, and 50 m (165 ft) from east to west, encompassing
6,500 m2 (69,940 fi2), or 0.65 hectares (1.6 acres). There
are several walls still present above ground.

Summary of Site Exam Request. The current project area
cuts through the portion of the factory that was expanded
during the period from 1875 to 1887. There are several
stone and brick walls still visible in and adjacent to the
project area. There are three substantial stone and brick
walls associated with the lower factory complex in and
adjacent to the project area. The first is the 10 m (33 ft)
long north to south stone and brick wall that is located
adjacent to the construction access road where it curves to
the north. This wall is the rear or east wall of the lower
complex and is immediately adjacent to the south side of
the project area (Photo 3). The second is the 12 m (39 ft)
long building foundation and millrace, which is located in
the project area (Photo 4). The final wall is the 45 m (148
ft) long stone wall that extends north to the bridge and is
located adjacent to the east side of the project area. This
wall is the west wall of the lower factory complex along
the Wallkill River (Photo 5). No visible walls are located
in the upper portion of the project area. Eighty artifacts



were recovered from STP 1, excavated within the project
area to a depth of 40 cm (16 in.) in the southern portion
of the lower factory complex. The artifacts include archi-
tectural rubble, domestic debris, and objects associated
with the manufacture of knives (Merwin 1999).

The Phase 1 investigation indicated that the major-
ity of the site is undisturbed and has both vertical and
horizontal integrity. The artifact assemblage recovered
from the subsurface testing can be associated with the
production of jackknives and table cutlery during the
second half of the nineteenth century and the early
twentieth century. The features, such as the mill race and
the building foundations, may provide evidence of the
function of the various buildings and spatial organiza-
tion of the factory. Based on the cultural material and
features, NYSM Site 10935 has the potential to yield
important information regarding the development of a

nineteenth century industry in rural New York State as
well as knife production techniques and factory organi-
zation (Merwin 1999).

The proposed construction of the access road will
directly impact extant features associated with the
northern portion of the New York Knife Company fac-
tory complex; a site examination was recommended by
SUNY Stony Brook. The site exam would entail the
excavations of backhoe trenches in the upper portion
of the project area and 1 by 1 m units throughout the
lower portion of the project area to define the spatial
organization of the factory and assess the integrity and
research potential of the below-ground resources with-
in the project area. Also, further documentary research
would be undertaken as a part of the site examination
(Merwin 1999).

Figure 1. Location of the project area for the replacement of BIN 1026680, NY
52, over the Wallkill River and of NYSM Site 10935 within the village of
Walden, Town of Montgomery, Orange County, New York.



Photo 2. View east of the project area, with the centerline of the construction access road
marked by the stakes in the center of the photo. There is a wall partially located in the project
area on the right, or south, side of the photo.
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Photo 3. View of the east or rear wall of the lower factory complex that is located immediately
adjacent to the construction access road.

Photo 4. View north of the project area of the north wall of the building foundation and mill
race located in the project area. The stake in the center of the photo is the centerline and the
stake on the right, or east, is the right of way marker.
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line of the proposed access road. The stone wall on the left of east side of the photo is the
west wall of the lower factory complex and is located adjacent to the east side of the proposed
construction access road.

Photo 6. View east of BIN 1026680 on NY 52 over the Wallkill River, with the factory site on
the east, or right, side of the photo.




HISTORIC CONTEXT

The area of Orange County where the village of
Walden is located was first settled in 1712 by Henry
Wileman, who acquired a 3,000-acre parcel of land that
encompassed the current location of the village. The
economy of eighteenth and nineteenth century Walden
was based on agriculture. Early industries were estab-
lished on the local waterways and were associated with
the processing of local agricultural products. The early
industries included distilleries, cider mills, gristmslls,
and sawmills. One of the first industries established in
the current village of Walden was James Kidd’s grist-
mill. The gristmill was built prior to 1768, and may have
utilized the power produced by the high falls on the
Wallkill River located south of the current project area.
The gristmell was converted into a mill that produced
cotton cloth during the late eighteenth or early nine-
teenth century. This cloth mill continued to operate
throughout the first half of the nineteenth century. In
1856 the cotton mill, which was owned by Scofield,
Capron, and Gowdy, went out of business. The village
officials offered the location on the high falls on the
Wallkill River to the owners of the New York Knife
Company (Merwin 1999).

Sixteen workers from the Waterville Knife factory
in Connecticut estabdished the New York Knife
Company in 1852 after the management decided that the
cutlers would have to buy their own files and tools. The
16 workers each put in $200 and agreed that they all
must be workers and not stockholders in their company.
They were at first reluctant to move to Walden, until the
community offered to help move the factory across the
river to Walden (Voyles 1995). In 1860, just 4 years after
the move to the village of Walden, the New York Knife
Company invested $20,000 worth of capital in the build-
ing, tools, and machinery. The same year, the company
also invested $4,630 in raw materials, which included
3,000 pounds of steel, 320 pounds of bone and shell,
1,700 pounds of brass, 2,400 pounds of iron, and other
miscellaneous materials worth $3,000, such as wood,
coal, and tools. The factory in 1860 produced $24,750
worth of knives and employed 25 males and 2 femeles.
The males earned an average of $46 a month, or $12 for
a 60-hour week, while the females earned $12 a month,
or $4 a week (Federal Products of Industry Census
1860). The 2 women may have been employed in either
the whetting room, where the knives were finished, or

possibly the matching rooms, where sets of table knives
were put together. The shortage of skilled cutlers in the

United States forced the company to recruit workers
from the knife factories in Sheffield, England.

By 1865 the factory workforce increased to 66
workers, which included 31 adult males, 20 males under
the age of 18, 11 adult femeles, and 4 femeles under the
age of 18. In 1865 the average monthly wage of the
male factory workers was $36, while the female work-
ers only received $12 a month. In 1864 the factory pro-
duced 9,000 dozen knives worth $36,000 (New York
State Census 1865). During the S-year period from 1865
to 1870, the factory workforce remained stable. In 1870
the factory still employed 66 workers. The workforce
was composed of 35 adult males, 8 adult women and 23
children under the age of 16 (Federal Products of
Industry Census 1870). Unfortunately, the number and
value of the knives produced in 1870 were not legible in
the 1870 Census.

Tom Bradley Jr. in 1870 took over the management
of the New York Knife Company from his father. He
was immediately faced with a crisis, which resulted in
the formation of a competing knife company. A group of
workers left and formed the Walden Knife Company,
which was also located in the village, and utilized the
waterpower from the Wallkill River. The split supposed-
ly came about over a baseball game. The workers from
the different floors of the New York Knife Company
would play each other during lunch. When one of the
games resulted in a brawl, Tom Bradley Jr. issued an
order that baseball was not to be played at lunch.
Several of the employees were either upset with this
edict or with his management of the company, and
decided to leave and start their own company (Voydes
1995). As a response to the startup of a new company,
Tom Bradley Jr. may have decided to expand the pro-
duction capabilities of the New York Knife Company,
based on evidence obtained during the 2000 archaeo-
logical testing. The evidence consists of initials (GWS)
and a date (1873) scratched into a concrete pad located
near the northeast corner of the one-story building pres-
ent on the 1885 Sanborn Insurance Map (Figure 3) on
the northwest corner of the original six-story building.
This indicates that the construction of this addition was
started in 1873. The depiction of the factory on the 1875
map still consists of a single rectangular-shaped build-
ing adjacent to the creek, with a mill race on its east side
(Figure 2).



Photo 7. View of the concrete pad adjacent to Unit 7, with the inscribed initials and dates out-
lined in chalk.

Figure 2. 1875 County Atlas of Orange, New York, depicting a single factory building to the
south of the project area (Beers). (New York State Archives)
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Figure 3. The 1885 Sanborn Insurance Map, which depicts the original building, with additions on its
northeast and northwest corners and on the south and east sides. (New York Sate Library)

The best explanation for the delay in the construc-
tion of the addition may be the economic crisis caused
by the 1873 Financial Panic. The 1873 Panic caused the
shutdown of the stock market for a 10-day period, bank
failures across the country, and a dramatic decrease in
the value of stocks and U.S. Treasury bonds. As a result,
credit in business was refused, debtors were pressed for
payment, securities dropped in value, manufactured
goods could not be sold, factories were forced to shut
down, and the prices of agricultural products dropped in

value (Armstrong 2000). The 1873 Panic brought about
a short-term depression that was almost as severe as the
Great Depression in the 1930s. Tom Bradley Ir.’s
response to the crisis was to cut his workforce back to
four-day weeks and keep the New York Knife Company
factory operating by borrowing against everything he
owned. Since there was no market demand for manu-
factured goods, which included pocket- and table
knives, he rented barns throughout Orange County to
store the knives until they could be sold. Apparently,



Bradley stopped the expansion of the factory during this
period in order to retain his skilled workforce and keep
the factory in operation. His plan worked. During the
recovery he had a loyal and experienced workforce,
while the other knife factories had to find new employ-
ees. In addition, he had a tremendous inventory of
knives to sell when the other factories were only starting
to resume manufacturing.

The depression caused by the 1873 Panic was over
by 1875, when the New York Knife Company was back
in full operation. In 1874 the factory employed 54 indi-
viduals, comprising of 35 adult males, 15 adult females,
and 2 males and 2 females under the age of 16. Although
the number of workers represents a drop of 12 individu-
als from 1870, their wages appear to have increased
slightly. In 1874, the adult male employees were paid
$36; the adult females, $18; the males under 18 years,
$15; and the females under 18, $12 a month. The pro-
duction of knives also appears to have increased. In
1874 the factory used $30,000 worth of steel, iron,
brass, wood, pearl, and ivory to produce $60,000 worth
of pocketknives and $30,000 worth of table knives. The
value of knives produced in 1875 is slightly over 3 and
a half times the value of the knives that were produced
in 1860. The increase in knife production may be relat-
ed to the increase in the capital invested in the factory.
The capital investment in 1865 was $10,000, while in
1875, $10,000 was invested in the factory and $20,000
was invested in tools and machinery. The $30,000 capi-
tal investment in 1875 represents a 200 percent increase
in a 10-year period. The investment in tools and machin-
ery may have allowed the increased knife production
with a smaller number of workers (New York State
Census 1875).

The New York Knife Company expanded during
the period from 1875 to 1880. The evidence of the fac-
tory’s expansion during this period is based on the dra-
matic increase in the number of workers and the
increase in the size of the factory on the 1885 Sanborn
Insurance Map (Figure 3). In the 1880 federal census the
number of workers employed at the factory increased to
230 employees— 4 times the number of individuals
employed at the factory in 1875. The increase in the
number of employees most likely was accompanied by
the expansion of the factory. The New York Knife
Company factory on the 1885 Sanborn Insurance Map
consists of 10 buildings (Figure 3). The increase in the
number of buildings is associated with the separation of
the various phases of the knife manufacturing process
and the separation of storage space from the production

space. Separate buildings were constructed for the forg-
ing, the hardening and tempering of the iron and steel,
the grinding of the knives, and a carpenter shop for the
processing of the knife handles, while the final buffing,
grinding, assembly, and packing were now confined to
the original building. Several storage buildings for the
raw materials, coal, and the finished knives were also
constructed along with a separate office space. The
waterpower system also was upgraded. A new gate-
house, 85-horsepower turbine, and second race were
added to power the lower factory complex. The expan-
sion of the factory by 1879 is represented by the
increase in the capital investments from $30,000 in 1875
to $50,000 in 1880. The expansion of the factory result-
ed in the increased production of knives. In 1879,
$50,000 worth of raw materials were used to produce
$152,000 worth of pocket- and table knives. Employee
wages increased during the period from 1875 to 1880. In
1880 the top wage was $2.25 a day for highly skilled
labor and $1.50 a day for ordinary work. The workweek
was composed of 6 10-hour days, so the monthly wage
was between $39 and $58 per month. The workforce in
1880 comprised 144 adult males, 16 adult females, and
70 children under the age of 16, who were all employed
throughout the year (Federal Products of Industry
Census 1880).

Between 1885 and 1887 the factory was expanded
a second time. The expansion occurred on the lower
races as well as in the area adjacent to Orchard Street.
Along the lower race, the one-story raw materials build-
ing, constructed between 1875 and 1880, was converted
into a grinding building and, a large one-story storage
building was added on at the north end, which extended
the factory to the bridge over the Wallkill River (Figures
4 and 5). Between 1887 and 1894 the New York Knife
Company underwent a third expansion. The factory
expansion during this period took place along the lower
and upper races. The north end of the lower factory
complex was expanded into a six-story building, where
the milling and finishing of the jackknives and table cut-
lery took place. The six-story production center was
powered by a flume and waterwheel that diverted water
from the upper race to power the milling room and
machine shop in the building. The expansion along the
upper race consisted of the construction of a long one-
story storage building. On the south side of the original
building, a new forge was built. The new construction
along Orchard Street consisted of a one-story storage
building for hardwoods, a new office, and a separate
brick storage building. In 1894 the factory employed
350 hands (Sanborn Insurance Maps 1894).




The expansion of the factory was aided by a series
of tariffs that protected the American knife industry
from foreign competition. In 1890 the McKinley Tariff
Bill placed a 50 percent tariff on imported cutlery. The
reductions of the tariff in 1894 threatened the American
cutlery industry with increased competition. Tom
Bradley, who was a former member of the House of
Representatives, along with the other leaders of the
American knife industry, appealed to McKinley and
Congress to reinstate the tariffs to protect the American
knife industry. Their lobbying efforts resulted in the pas-
sage of the Dingley Tariff Bill, which essentially dou-
bled the cost of the imported knives. The tariff made the
American knife industry number one in the world and
locked foreign companies out of the American market.
In appreciation, the workers of Walden erected a statue
of William McKinley in the village square. It is
inscribed “from the working men of Walden” (Volyes
1995:234) (Photo 8).
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Only a few changes were made to the New York
Knife Company factory between 1894 and 1900. Two
additional buildings were constructed, along with a coal
storage shed adjacent to Orchard Streetna storehouse
was built over the head race; and two small one-story
additions were constructed to connect the buildings
along Orchard Street with the buildings on the upper
race. The building that contained the boilers used to heat
the complex was expanded from one to two stories dur-
ing this period. The greatest change during this period
was the modification of the structures along the upper
race. These buildings were converted from one-story
storage structures to three-story buildings where knives
were finished, stored, and displayed for wholesalers
(Figures 5 and 6). The growth of the factory’s produc-
tion line is also reflected in the number of workers,
which increased from 350 in 1894 to 400 in 1900
(Sanborn Insurance Map 1900). The New York Knife
Company during this period was manufacturing over
one and a half million knives a year.
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Figure 4. 1887 Burleigh engraving of the upper and lower factory complexes of the New York Knife
Company in the village of Walden. (Library of Congress Geography and Map Division)
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Figure 6. 1900 Sanborn Insurance Map of the New York Knife Company. (New York State Library)



In 1903 Tom Bradley Jr. sold the New York Knife
Company to C.B. and J.E. Fuller, the owners of the
Electric Cutlery and the Friedman and Lauterjung
Importing Company. One of the primary reasons he sold
the company was the increased competition with the
Walden Knife Company and other manufacturers. In
1902 E.C. Simmons Hardware purchased the Walden
Knife Company and introduced a full-line catalog of
knives to all of the hardware stores the company owned
and supplied. The competition in the knife manufactur-
ing continued to increase when George Schrade left the
Walden Knife Company in 1904 and started his own
company to manufacture and sell an improved version
of the switchblade knife he originally designed for the
Walden Knife Company (Voyles 1995: 235). In
response to the increased competition the new owners of
the New York Knife Company expanded the factory
between 1903 and 190S. By 1905 two new buildings; a
sample room and storehouse were constructed on
Orchard Street. The greatest change occurred in the
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buildings that were on the lower race. The one-story
grinding building on the lower race was reconstructed as
a three-story building and used for grinding, finishing,
and cutlery production. Also, the one-story storage
building on the north end of the grinding building was
converted into three separate buildings. The buildings
included a one-story grinding building built over the
lower race; a four-story building where the grinding,
hafting, matching, and the production of table cutlery
took place; and a one-story drop shop where knife
blades were stamped out of steel (Figure 7). The expan-
sion of the factory during this period did not result in an
increase in the workforce, since the factory still
employed 400 hands in 1905 (Sanborn Fire Insurance
Maps 1905). The expansion of the factory during this
period must have either made the production line more
efficient or included new machinery, since no addition-
al workers were hired between 1900 and 1905, while the
size of the factory increased substantially.
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The New York Knife Company’s market share con-
tinued to decrease despite the modernization of the fac-
tory and increased production. In an attempt to regain its
market share the company began producing the only
official Boy Scout Knife in 1911 and held this monop-
oly until 1922 (Voyles 1995:235). The factory during
the period from 1905 to 1913 did not expand. However,
several new technologies were adopted (Figure 8). The
first was the storehouse on the west side of Orchard
Street. This was converted into a celluloid works and
bone shop to produce bone and plastic handles. The sec-
ond was that the factory was electrified (Sanborn
Insurance Map 1913). The installation of electricity for
lights and machinery throughout the plant was a major
investment. This investment made the factory more
competitive by making the production line faster, more
efficient, and lowering the number of workers needed to
produce the knives. By 1913, the number of people
employed by the company dropped to 327 individuals,
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Figure 8. 1913 Sanborn Insurance Map of the New York Knife

which is a decrease of 63 people from 1905. The work-
force was composed of 275 adult males, 41 adult
females, 8 children between the ages of 14 and 16, and
3 office employees. The adult males in 1912 worked on
the average a 63 hour week, the adult females between
58 and 63 hours a week, and the children, 51 hours or
less a week (New York State Department of Labor
1915). By 1913, the Walden Knife Company with 340
employees surpassed the number of workers employed
at the New York Knife Company, which had 327
employees. The smallest knife manufacturer in Walden
at this time was the Schrade Knife Company with, 137
employees. In 1913, 804 people, or 19 percent of the
population, of the village of Walden were employed at
the three knife factories (New York State Department of
Labor 1915). The knife industry, with the employment
of such a large percentage of the village population, had
a tremendous influence on the local economy.
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Company. (New York State Library)
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The outbreak of World War I increased the demand
for knives and allowed the New York Knife Company to
remain in full production. After the war, ended two gun-
manufacturing firms, Remington and Winchester,
entered the knife manufacturing business. They used the
latest technologies and machinery and had tremendous
advertising and promotion campaigns to promote their
products. The post-war catalogs that had once only
shown the full line of New York Knife Company knives
now was split between Remington and the New York
Knife Company. Remington’s market share continued to
increase, as the New York Knife Company’s market
share decreased after World War L In 1922 the New
York Knife Company suffered a further setback when
Remington and the Ulster or Schrade Knife Companies
gained the right to manufacture Boy Scout knives, thus
ending the New York Knife Company’s monopoly. On
the 1924 Sanborn Insurance Map there is a notation that
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the factory was not in operation (Figure 9). It is possible
that the factory shut down for a short period of time,
possibly to retool or that the owners were having prob-
lems due to the increased competition with Remington,
the Ulster Knife Company, and Winchester. The final
blow for many of the American knife companies was the
1929 stock market crash, which brought about the Great
Depression. In 1931 the New York Knife Company was
forced to shut down and stop its operation after being in
business for 79 years. The only knife company that is
still producing knives today is the Schrade Knife
Company, which moved from the village of Walden to
Ellenville, Ulster County, in 1958. The knife industry in
the village of Walden is only represented by the ruins of
the New York Knife Company and the two other facto-
ries along the Wallkill River and the statue of William
McKinley in the village square.




Summary of the History of the New York Knife
Company. The New York Knife Company represents the
mid nineteenth century development of the knife indus-
try in New York State. During the early nineteenth cen-
tury several, knife manufacturing companies were start-
ed by immigrants from Sheffield, England, in the
Connecticut River Valley. By the mid nineteenth centu-
ry the knife industry started to move into the Hudson
River Valley, when the New York Knife Company was
formed in 1852. The New York Knife Company moved
to the village of Walden in 1856. The factory started in
a single building with 27 employees. The passage of
several tariff acts during the late nineteenth century pro-
tected the American knife industry from foreign compe-
tition and allowed the American industry to dominate
the world markets. At the New York Knife Company’s
height in 1900 to 1905, the factory consisted of a com-
plex of 28 buildings and 2 races and produced 1 and a
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Photo 8. View west of the statue of William McKinley erected by the workers of Walden.

half million knives a year, with the ability to produce
4,000 knives a day. The 28 buildings included 2 6-story,
1 4-story, 5 3-story, 7 2-story, 1 1-and-a-half-story, and
12 1-story structures. Between 1856 and 1931 the facto-
ry underwent 4 major expansions. Each time the factory
was expanded, its spatial organization changed. These
re-organizations were related to increasing the efficiency
of knife production and the number of knives produced
in a year, allowing the company to remain competitive.
The yearly production rate of knives increased from
108,000 knives in 1865 to 1 and a half million knives in
1900. The increase in production was necessary to
maintain the company’s profits while paying the cost for
the expansions and modernization of the factory, since
jackknives in the 1902 Sears and Roebuck Catalog sold
from 23 to 94 cents apiece, and a set of 6 table knives
and forks ranged in price from $.50 to $2.03 (Sears and
Roebuck 1902).
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The size of the factory and its yearly production
totals made the New York Knife Company one of the
largest knife companies in New York State, if not the
United States, during this time period. The company
also had one of the largest workforces and one of the
better wage scales in the manufacturing industry. The
company’s workforce throughout the nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries included women and children
under the age of 16. Although there were different pay
rates for adult males, adult females, and children, the
wage scales for each category was above the wages paid
in other industries. The wage scale from 1860 to 1875
for adult males averaged $36 a month; adult females,
$18 aenonth; males under 18, $15 a month; and females
under 18, $12 a month. By 1880 the wages wereeb 2.25
a day, or $60.75 a month, for skilled jobs, and $160 a
day, or $40.50 per month, for ordinary work. The work-
week during this period consisted of 6 10-hour days, and
unlike many factories during this period, the New York
Knife Company operated year-round. To put these
wages in perspective, the average wage for manufactur-
ing skilled workers in 1900 was $435 a year, or $33.50
a month; and for unskilled labor was only $22 a month;
and even as late as 1974, a minimum-wage job would
only pay only $16 a day (Schlereth 1991€78). Both of
these figures indicate that the New York Knife Company
workers were being paid well above the average manu-
facturing salary as early as 1860.

16

The various expansions of the factory may be
viewed as the specialization of space and labor, which
allowed the New York Knife Company to compete in
the global economy. The majority of the New York
Knife factory complex is located outside the project
area. The small segment of the factory located in the
project area is the only portion of the factory where all
four of the major expansions are represented. The facto-
ry expansions that represented in the project area
include the first expansion of the factory that occurred
between 1875 to 1880, and three other expansions,
which occurred between 1885 to 1887, 1894 to 1900,
and 1900 to 1905 (Figures 2 to 9). The four expansions
of the New York Knife Company factory represent the
industrial development toward mass production that
occurred from the mid nineteenth to the early twentieth
centuries. The factory also represents the history of a
specific industry and the effects of the global market on
the knife industry in the United States. The development
of the factory represents the shift from non-capitalist,
non-commercial economy, where the individual crafts-
men controlled the means and tempo of production, to a
capitalistic, commercial economy, where laborers were
controlled by the clock and the tempo of the machinery.
In this system, the worker was at the mercy of the capi-
talist for the support of himself and his family (Shackel
1996).
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Figure 10. Development of the New York Knife Company factory from 1856 to 1931.
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ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY METHODOLOGY

FIELD METHODOLOGY

The Phase one testing of the New York Knife
Company site consisted of the excavation of one STP.
The STP was 40 cm in diameter and was excavated at a
depth of 40 cm (16 in.). The STP was excavated to
determine whether any artifacts associated with the
1856 to 1931 production of jackknives and table cutlery
were present in the subsurface deposits.

The field methodology for the site exam was
devised to test the New York Knife Company factory
complex, and consisted of the excavation of backhoe
trenches in the area adjacent to Orchard Street at the top
of the slope, and the hand excavation of units at the base
of the slope adjacent to the Wallkill River, where struc-
tural features are still visible.

Four backhoe trenches were excavated in the area
west of Orchard Street and the top of the slope. The
trenches ranged in size from 1 to 2.5 m (3 to 8 ft) in
length. Trench A was excavated in the area located par-
tially down the slope to the area where the level yard
starts and was 2.5 m (8 ft) in length. Trench B was locat-
ed approximately 1 m (3.3 ft) to the east and south of
Trench A and was 1.5 m (5 ft) in length. Trench C was
1.5 m (5 ft) in length and was located on the west side

of the concrete retaining wall that was partially visible.
Trench D was located on the east or street side of the
partially visible retaining wall and was 1.5 m (5 ft) in
length (Figure 12). The trenches were staggered to give
maximum coverage within the project area. The two
features revealed by the backhoe excavation appear to
be the east wall of the upper mill complex (Feature 2) in
Trench A and the circa 1885 to 1894 retaining wall. The
photos of the backhoe trenches were destroyed when the
camera malfunctioned, but the drawings and maps doc-
ument the excavations.

Units were also excavated to determine the strati-
graphic sequence on the portion of the lower factory
complex located at the base of the slope adjacent to the
Wallkill River. The units were excavated to locate any
features, such as foundations, floors, or knife fragments
associated with the nineteenth- and early twentieth-cen-
tury operation of the New York Knife Company factory
site. Ten 0.75 by 1 m (2.5 by 3.3 ft) and four 0.5 by I m
(1.6 by 3.3 ft) units were excavated to determine the
relationship of the features identified to the stratigraph-
ic sequence on the site, to date their construction, mod-
ification and/or demolition. The features located on
NYSM Site 10935 are defined in Table 1 and presented
in Figures 10 and 12).

Table 1. Features Located on NYSM Site 10935, New York Knife Company factory Site.

Feature Definition Condition Initial Date of
Construction
Upper Factory Complex
1 Retaining wall Partially visible 1887-1894
2 East wall of the Subsurface 1887-1894
upper factory
complex
Lower Factory Complex
1875-1880 expansion
3 Grinding, finishing Partially visible 1875-1880
cutlery building
4 Storage room Buried 1875-1880




Table 1. Continued.

Feature Definition Condition Initial Date of
Construction

1885-1887 expansion

5 Grinding shed & Visible 1885-1887
tail race

6 Grinding, hafting, Buried 1885-1887
matching & cutlery
building

7 Drop shop Buried 1885-1887

The units were excavated by natural stratigraphic levels, and when it was possible, excavation was contin-
ued under the concrete floors. The number of cultural or stratigraphic levels present in the units varied from one A
horizon in Units 1, 4, 6, 8,9, and 11, and from two to fourdevels in Units 2, 3, 5, 7, 10, 12, 13, and 14. These levels
represent the current A horizon, and from one to three levels of redeposited soil associated with the construction and
expansion of the lower factory complex. The units were excavated with shovels and trowels and screened through
one-quarter inch (0.625 in.) mesh. The size, location, rational, stratigraphy, and depths for each of the 12 units are
presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Size, Location, Rationale, and Stratigraphic Sequence of the 14 Units
Excavated on NYSM 10935.

Unit Size (m) Placement and Rationale Levels Depths (cm)

Lower Factory Complex

1875-1880 expansion

1 0.5x1 Units 1 and 6 were excavated 1 0-10/40

6 0.5x1 to locate the wall dividing the N wall 10/11-40+
1875 to 1880 and the 1885 to E wall 14/20-40+
1887 expansion (Features 3 Floor 22/40-

and 5) and document the
stone arch over the tailrace.

9 0e75 x 1 Unit 9 was excavated to locate 1 0-30/49
the east wall of Feature 3. E wall 0-40
Floor 30/49 -
3 0.75x 1 Unit 3 was excavated on the 1 0-9/11
east side of an internal wall Floor 9/11-15/19
in the interior of Feature 3 to 2 15/19-26/30
determine the function of the 3 26/30-95/100+

room and the stratigraphic
sequence under the concrete
floor.
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Table 2. Continued.

Unit Size (m) Placement and Rationale Levels Depths (cm)
4 075x 1 Unit 4 was excavated to determine 1 0-14/100+
whether the east wall of the 1875 to E wall 14/38-83+
1880 expansion continues to the north, Clay drainage  83-
pipe
7 0.75x 1 Unit 7 was excavated on the exterior E wall 0-100+
of Feature 4 to determine the 1 0-7/14
the stratigraphic sequence on the 2 7/14-98-100+
exterior of 1875 to 1880 expansion.
1885-1887 expansion
2 05x1 Unit 2 was excavated to locate 1 0-7/8
the wall between Features 5 and 6 Floor 7/8-8/13
inthe 1885 to 1887 expansion Stone wall 7/8-54+
and the wall between the 1875 to Pipe trench 7/8-54
1880 and the 1885 to 1887 2 8/13-44/46
expansions. 3 44/46-54+
5 05x1 Unit 7 was excavated to locate 1 0-4/11
and document the wall between Floor 4/11-8/13
the 1875 to 1880 and the 1885 2A 8/13-14/24
to 1887 factory expansions Stone wall 14/18-100+
2 10/24-43/60
3 43/60-97/100+
1885-1887 expansion
10 0.75x 1 Unit 10 was excavated to locate 1 0-4/10
and document the stratigraphic 2 4/10-32/34
sequence on the north side of the Stone wall 14/20-97+
of the stone wall associated with 2B 32/34-17/39
1875 to 1880 factory expansion. 3 37/39-55/62
4 55/62-95/97 +
8§ & 11 1.5x1 Units 8 and 11 were excavated 1 0-7/18
in the interior of Feature 6 of Floor 7/18-
the 1885 to 1887 expansion.
12 0.75x 1 Unit 12 was excavated in the 1 0-10/14
interior of Feature 6 of the 2 10/14-34/35
1885 to 1887 expansion. Pipe trench 32/35-52
3 34/35 - 41/58
4 41/58 - 66/75+
13 0.75x 1 Unit 7 was excavated in the 1 0-49/74
interior of Feature 7 of the 2 49/71-92/93
1885 to 1887 expansion. Floor 92/93-
14 0.75 x 1 Unit 8 was excavated in the 1 0-1/48
interior of Feature 7 of the 2 1/48-32/63
1885 to 1887 expansion. 3 32/63-72/97
Floor 72/97-
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Prior to the excavation of these units it was decided that
only small samples of the brick, mortar, concrete, and
window glass would be saved. The focus of the excava-
tions was to locate any artifacts associated with the pro-
duction of knives and determine whether there are any
differences in the functions within the various subdivi-
sions of the factory.

LABORATORY METHODOLOGY

Processing. Following fieldwork, all artifacts were
processed and analyzed in the Anthropological Survey
lab of the New York State Museum. Processing includ-
ed washing, dry brushing fragile materials, cataloging,
and numbering the artifacts.

Analytical Procedures. Historical artifacts were cata-

loged according to a New York State Museum system
based on South’s classification (South 1976). Each arti-
fact was first classified as being related to the knife
manufacturing process (blades, handles, tools, or raw
material), domestic artifacts (faunal, ceramic, bottle
glass, table glass, tobacco pipes, toys, etc.), or architec-
tural artifacts (brick, mortar, concrete, flat or window
glass, and nails). These three general categories were
then divided into specific groups based on manufactur-
ing techniques. The identification of knife parts was
based on information found in Lenik (1969) or Volyes
(1995) (Figure 11).

Repository. All artifacts, field notes, maps, and other
documentation of the site examination are curated as
part of the collections of the New York State Museum
Anthropological Survey.
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Figure 11. Jackknife parts (Peterson 1958 & Lenik 1969).
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RESULTS OF THE SITE EXAMINATION OF NYSM SITE 10935

SITE BOUNDARIES

Horizontal. The site area extends north and south of the complex located adjacent to the north side of the project
current project area based on the presence of visible  area is shown in a series of photographs.
stone and brick walls. The portion of the lower factory :

Photo 9. View south of the remains of the three-story grinding, finishing, and matching build-
ing, with its west wall in the stream on the right side of the photo.
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Photo 10. View east of a below-ground race on the northern right-of-way line that carried
water from the upper factory complex to the lower factory complex.

Photo 11. View southeast of the foundations for the inner row of buildings in the lower factory
complex. This foundation was for a storage building where the factory boiler or heating plant
and the coal storage and picking room brick were located.
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Photo 12. View south of the foundations for the original 6-story L-shaped building that appears
on the 1859 and 1875 maps. The west end of this building projected out into the stream and is

no longer present.

that were located on the east side of the original six story original factory building.



Photo 14. View east of the ruins of the carpenter shop and race in the upper factory complex
located adjacent to the northern project limit. The foundation in the upper left of the photo is
associated with the lumber storage sheds that were on Orchard Street.

Orchard Street located on top of the slope.
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Photo 17. View south of the upper mill race on the right side of the photo. The mill race ran
through the east end of the original six-story factory building and the carpenter shop.
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Photo 18. View southeast of the modern Niagara Mohawk power dam located adjacent to the
south side of the original 6-story factory building. The construction of the current dam impact-
ed the location of the original headrace and dam.
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Photo 19. View south of the Niagara Mohawk dam and powerhouse located adjacent to the
south end of the New York Knife Company factory.
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The only visible ruin present south of the project
area is the west wall of the lower factory complex. This
is located adjacent to the project area which is shown in
Photos 4 and 5. The east wall of the lower factory com-
plex and the entire upper factory complex are covered
with a deposit of recent fill. Only a small portion of the
factory site is located in the current project.
Approximately 196 m2 (2,110 ft2), or less than 10 per-
cent of the factory, is located in the current project area
(Figure 12). Cultural materials associated with the pro-
duction of knives during the period from 1875 to 1931
were recovered from all of the units and the STP exca-
vated in the project area.

Vertical. The excavation of the 14 units and one STP
revealed that there are historic stratigraphic deposits
related to the construction and use of the site present
within the project area. The excavation of five units (2,
3, 5, 10, and 12) through the concrete floor of the lower
factory complex revealed the presence of two levels of
soil that may be associated with the 1875 to 1879 and
the 1885 to 1894 expansions of the factory. The two soil
deposits extended over 1 m (3.3 ft) below the concrete
floor. It is highly likely that these deposits are also pres-
ent under the concrete floor in Units 8 and 11. Three of
the units (1, 5, and 9) excavated over the stone-arch —
covered mill race that ran under the 3-story building
revealed the presence of 20 to 45 cm (8 to 18 in.) of soil

that has accumulated over the brick floor of the grinding
room. The brick floor was constructed over the stone-
arch — covered mill race. Two of the units (4 and 7)
excavated on the exterior of the lower factory complex
revealed the presence of two soil levels and features that
were present in the courtyard area between the upper
and lower factory complexes. Two units (13 and 14)
excavated in the drop shop revealed the presence of 0.9
to 1 m (3 to 3.3 ft) of soil over the brick- and concrete-
floor of the drop shop. The soil deposits in Units 13 and
14 consist of one or two levels of soil deposited over a
level that is associated with the demolition of the facto-
ry (Figures 10 and 12).

The stratigraphic sequence on the site varies from
feature-to-feature or building-to-building divisions. In
the interior of Feature 3, the three-story grinding, fin-
ishing, and cutlery building, there is only one soil level
that is present over the brick floor, which overlies the
stone-arch — covered mill race. In Feature 4, the store-
room, and in Feature 6, the four-story grinding, hafting,
matching, and cutlery building, there is one soil level
above the concrete floor and from two to three soil lev-
els under the floor. In Feature 7 (the drop shop) there are
two to three levels of soil present above the brick- and
concrete-floor. Finally, in the area outside the lower fac-
tory complex, there are two soil levels present adjacent
to the east or the rear of the buildings.
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Figure 12. Map of the results of the archaeological testing conducted on the New York Knife Company
factory complex.
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SITE STRATIGRAPHIC SEQUENCE

Soils and Features. The subsurface testing conducted on
the New York Knife Company factory site revealed the
presence of a fill deposit over the upper factory complex
(Features | and 2), a single cultural deposit in Feature 3
built over the covered mill race (Feature 5), and strati-
fied deposits that extend under the concrete floor and on
the exterior of two of the other structures (Features 4
and 6). Also, the testing revealed the presence of a fill
deposit in the interior of Feature 7 at the base of the
slope. The fill at the base of the slope in Unit 14 appears
to be the same deposit that is present at the top of the
slope in the backhoe trenches. The features that were
present on the site include the retaining wall and the fin-
ishing room in the upper factory complex (Features 1
and 2), and four of the buildings in the lower factory
complex. The features in the lower factory complex
consist of the three-story grinding, finishing, and cutlery
building (Feature 3), the two-story storage and heating
plant structure (Feature 4), the one-story grinding shed
built over the lower mill race (Feature 5), the four-story
grinding, hafting, matching, and cutlery building
(Feature 6), and the one-story drop shop (Feature 7).

Upper Factory Complex. The subsurface testing in this
location consisted of the excavation of four backhoe
trenches (A-D). The excavation of the backhoe trenches
revealed the presence of two features within the upper
project area and from 1 to 1.5 m (3 to S ft) of circa
late1960s to early 1970s fill, based on the recovery of a
pull-tab coke can and plastic in Trenches A-C. In Trench

Il - 10YR 3/2 V DK GR BR SI LO w COBBLES
m - 10YR 3/3 & 4/4 DK BR & DK YL BR SI LO w CONCRETE & ROCKS
1 - 10YR 5/6 YL BR S} LO

D, excavated on the east side of the retaining wall
(Feature 1), natural soils consisting of 30 to 45 cm (12
to 18 in.) of a dark gray brown silty loam A horizon and
the yellow brown silty loam B horizon were present,
while the three trenches excavated on the west side of
the wall revealed the presence of an extensive fill
deposit in the project area overlying the B horizon. The
fill deepens from west to east, from 1 m (3 ft) in Trench
Cto 1.6 m (5.5 ft) in Trench D, excavated at the top of
the current slope. The two features revealed by the back-
hoe excavation appear to be the east wall of the upper
mill complex (Feature 2) in Trench A, which was pres-
ent under 1.6 m (5.5 ft) of fill. The second feature is the
circa 1885 to 1894 retaining wall that was located
between Trenches C and D (Figure 13). During the
cleanup of Trench A to document and photo the stone
wall of the upper factory complex, the trench walls com-
posed of 1.6 m (5.5 ft) of fill collapsed, negating the
effort to document the wall. The east wall of the upper
factory complex appears to have been excavated into the
B horizon. A schematic profile of the upper portion of
the project area, using the depths of the soils and fill
measured in the four trenches excavated within the proj-
ect area, was created to document the subsurface fea-
tures and soils (Figure 13). Feature 2, the east wall of the
upper factory complex, was constructed from 1885 to
1894 and was modified from a one-story to a three-story
building during the same period. The west wall of the
upper factory complex could not be tested either by
backhoe trenches or hand excavations due to the steep-
ness of the slope (Photo 2).
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Figure 13. Schematic plan view of the soil profie in the area located between the west side of Orchard
Street and the top of the slope down to the Wallkill River.
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Lower Factory Complex. Fourteen units were excavated
in the segment of the project area that cuts through a
portion of the lower factory complex. The historical
documentation in conjunction with the visible features
and walls indicates that this is the location of the 1875
to 1880 and the 1885 to 1887 factory expansions. The
structures associated with both of the factory expansions
were further modified from one-story to three- or four-
story buildings during the 1900 to 1905 factory expan-
sion. Units 1, 6, 3, and 9 were excavated in the interior
and Units 4 and 7 were excavated on the exterior of the
buildings constructed during the 1875 to 1880 expan-
sion (Features 3 and 4). Units 2, 5, 10, 12, 13, and 14
were excavated in the interior of the buildings con-
structed during the 1885 to 1887 factory expansion
(Features S, 6, and 7). The subsurface testing revealed
the presence of one to five cultural soil levels within the
lower factory complex, representing three different
stratigraphic sequences. The stratigraphic sequence of
the site varies from west to east.

Features 3 and 5. Feature 3 was the three-story grind-
ing, finishing, and cutlery building, originally built dur-
ing the period from 1875 to 1880, and was modified

between 1885 and 1894, and 1900 and 1905. Feature 5
was the one-story grinding shed built over the lower tail
race between 1885 and 1887. The dimensions of Feature
3 on the 1905 map are 32 by 6.6 m (105 by 22 ft) and
the dimensions of Feature S are 5 by 14-m (46 by 16 ft).
The subsurface testing of Features 3 and S on the west
side of the lower factory complex adjacent to the
Wallkill River revealed the presence of a single cultural
level, a black silty loam in Units 1, 6, and 9 that has
accumulated over the interior brick floor. The brick
floor was built directly on the top of the stone arch con-
structed over the lower tailrace. The majority of artifacts
from these units were recovered within 10 cm (4 in.) of
the floor, suggesting that they were discarded in the cor-
ner of Feature 3 during the manufacturing process. The
recovery of porcelain electrical insulators indicates that
the deposit has to date after the factory was electrified,
which occurred between 1905 and 1913. The recovery
of a patent medicine bottle manufactured by the Mark-
Owens Bottle Company from 1912 to 1929 (Fiske 1987)
suggests that the artifacts recovered from this deposit
represent the last few years that the New York Knife
Company factory was in operation from circa 1905 to
1931 (Figures 14-16, and Photos 20-22).
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Photo 21. View north of the interior brick floor and the south and east walls of Feature 3, the
grinding and finishing building in Units 1 and 6.
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Figure 15. The south wall profile of Units 1 and 6.
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Features 4 and 6. Feature 4 is a part of the one-story
storage building built between 1875 to 1880, which was
modified into the factory’s heating plant between 1887
and 1894, and modified into a two-story building
between 1894 and 1900. Feature 6 is a part of the 1885
to 1887 expansion of the factory and was modified into
a four-story building where the grinding-hafting, cutlery
manufacturing and matching took place between 1900
and 1905. The dimensions of Features 4 and 6, based on
the 1905 Sanborn Insurance Map are 21.5 by 5 m (70 by

16 ft) and 25 by 6.7 m (80 by 22 ft), respectively. The
excavation of Units 3, 2, 5, 8, 10, 11, and 12 in the inte-
rior of Features 4 and 6 revealed the presence of one
level of soil above the concrete floor, and two to three
levels of redeposited soils and a buried A horizon under
the concrete floor. The testing also located the north
wall of the 1875 to 1880 factory expansion. The strati-
graphic sequence present in Features 4 and 6 is present-
ed in Table 3.

Table 3. The Stratigraphic Sequence Associated with the 1875 to 1880 and the 1885 to 1894
Expansions of the New York Knife Company Factory.

Site Depth Soil Unit Unit  Date

Level Level

1 0-4/18 cm Black to dark grayish brown 2,35, 8 10 1 Post 1931
silty loam 11, & 12

- 4/18-8/19 cm Concrete floor 2,3,5 810 1900-1905

& 11

2A 8/13-14/24 cm dark grayish brown 5&10 2A 1900-1905
silty loam

- 14/18-97+ cm North wall of the 5&10 1875-1880
1875-1880 expansion

2 8/24-26/46 cm Gray brown to a dark 2,3,5, 10, 2 1900-1905
brown silty loam & 12

2B 32/34-37/39 cm Light yellowish brown 10 2B 1885-1887
silty clay 12 3

3 37/39-55/62 cm Dark yellowish brown 10 3 1875-1885
silty loam

4 26/60-100+ cm Gray brown to dk brown silty 2,35 3 1875-1880
sand with shale & coal ash

- 41/62-100+ cm Gray brown silty sand with 10, 12 4 1875-1880

coal ash & shale




The stratigraphic sequence on the north and south
sides of the wall varies slightly. The first activity during
the expansion of the factory between 1875 and 1880
was the deposition of an extensive deposit of soil com-
posed of a gray brown silty sand with coal ash and shale
along the bank of the Wallkill River to level and extend
the terrace to the west. This deposit is present in the inte-
rior of the 1875 to 1880 factory expansion as Level 3 in
Units 2, 3, and 5, and on the exterior of the expansion as
Level 4 in Units 10 and 12. This level ranges in depth
from 26/30 to 100 cm (10/12 to 40 in.) in Unit 3 to 55/62
to 100+ cm (22/25 to 40+ in.) in Unit 10. The artifacts
recovered from this level may represent the operation of
the New York Knife Company factory prior to the con-
struction of a large storage building in this location dur-
ing the 1875 to 1880 expansion. On the exterior of the
north wall of the 1875 to 1880 expansion an A horizon,
Level 3 in Unit 10, developed over the 1875 to 1880
redeposited soil. The dark yellowish brown silty loam A
horizon is present from 37/39 to 55/62 cm (14/15.5 to
22/225 in.) below ground surface. The A Horizon devel-
oped on the exterior of the north wall after the 1875 to
1880 expansion and prior to the 1885 to 1887 expan-
sion. The only cultural material recovered from the A
horizon consésted of oil lamp chimmey glass, clear bot-
tle glass, and window glass (Figure 17).

During the 1885 to 1887 expansion of the factory a
large one-story storage building and a six-story manu-
facturing building were added on to the north side of the
1875 to 1880 expansion. The 1885 to 1887 factory
expansion is represented by the deposition of a level of
soil on the exterior of the north wall of the 1875 to 1880
expansion in Units 10 and 12. The light yellowish brown
silty clay increased in depth from south to north from
32/34 to0 37/39 cm (12/13 to 14/15 in.) in Unit 10 and to
34/35 to 41/58 cm (13/14 to 16/23 in.) in Unit 12. This
level was deposited as a part of the 1885 to 1887 expan-
sion to raise the elevation and level the terrace that was
created during the first factory expansions from 1875 to
1880. The artifacts recovered from this level are associ-
ated with the operation of the factory during the period
from 1880 to 1887 (Figures 17-24 and Photos 23-27).

The lower factory complex underwent a major ren-
ovation during the period from 1900 to 1905. The one-
story buildings that were constructed during the 1875 to
1880 and the 1885 to 1887 expansions were recon-
structed as three- and four-story buildings. This major
renovation is represented by the deposition of two addi-
tional soils, Levels 2A and 2, in the interior of Featares
3,4, and 6. Level 2, a grayish brown to dark brown silty

loam, is present in Units 2, 3, 5, 10, and 12. The depth
of this level varies from unit to unit. In Feature 3 the
depth of this deposit ranges from 15/19 to 26/30 cm
(6/7.5 to 10/12 in.) in Unit 3, and from 20/24 to 43/60
cm (8/10 to 17/24 in.) in Unit 5, while the depth of the
1885 to 1887 soil level in Feature 6 is more uniform and
is present from 4/14 to 32/35 cm (2/5.5 to 12/14 in.) in
both Units 10 and 12. Prior to the deposition of the 1900
to 1905 level a one-inch waterline was excavated into
the early levels in Units 2 and 12. Also, the 1875 to 1880
stone wall in Units 2 and 12 was demolished to the
ground level and then covered with Level 2A, which is
present from 4/13 to 14/24 cm (2/5 to 5.5/9.5 in.) below
the ground surface. The concrete floor was then poured
over Levels 2 and 2A during the 1900 to 1905 modifi-
cation of the two earlier additions. Finally, Level 1, a
black to dark grayish brown silty loam, is present from
0to4/18 cm (1.5 to 7 in.) above the concrete floor. The
concrete floor is present from 8 to 20 cm (3 to 8 in.)
below the ground surface. Level 1 represents the devel-
opment of an A horizon after the factory stopped oper-
ating in 1931. The artifacts from Level 1 were recovered
within 5 cm (2 in.) of the brick or concrete floor, indi-
cating that they may be associated with the operation of
the factory during the period from 1905 to 1931
(Figures 17-24 and Photos 23-27).

The excavation of Units 4 and 7, adjacent to the east
wall of Features 3 and 4 in the courtyard area between
the upper and lower factory complexeserevealed the
presence of one soil level in Unit 4 and two soil levels
in Unit 7. Level 1 in Unit 4 and Level 2 in Unit 7 are
similar soils, a very dark grayish brown silty sand with
coal ash. This soil is a deposit that is similar to the 1900
to 1905 level that was present in the interior of Features
3, 4, and 6. This soil may have either been deposited or
modified during the 1900 to 1905 modification of the
earlier factory buildings, when these structures were
changed from one- to three- or four- story buildings. The
foundation and exterior walls may have been rebuilt or
reinforced for the expansion of the structures into mul-
tiple-story buildings. The poured-concrete walls above
the courses of brick may represent the modification of
the walls. This soil level in Unit 4 is deposited over the
brick and concrete doorway, which indicates that the
upper portion of this level may represent the redeposi-
tion of soil through erosion or slope wash from the
upper factory complex. The upper portion of Level 2
and Level 1, a black silty loam in Unit 7, also may rep-
resent the redeposition of soil from the upper factory
complex through erosion or slope wash. In Unit 4 a
stoneware drainage pipe is present at 83 cm (33 in.)
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below the ground surface adjacent to the exterior of the
east wall. This pipe may have been associated with
either a bathroom located in the interior of Features 3 or
4, or served to drain water away from the factory.
Adjacent to the north side of Unit 7 is a square concrete-
coated catch basin or cistern that has a red-colored con-
crete cover inscribed with the initials G.W.S. and the
date 1873. This feature, located near the northeast cor-
ner of the 1875 to 1880 factory expansion, may repre-
sent the starting date for the factory expansion that was
not completed until the period from 1875 to 1880 due to
the economic downturn caused by the Panic of 1873.
The stoneware drainage pipe in Unit 4 may connect with
this feature adjacent to the north side of Unit 7 (Figures
17-24 and Photos 23-27).

, ]
-~ £ ¢
Photo 23. View south of the stone wall associated with the 1875 to 1880 expansion of the

New York Knife Company factory and the meter of cultural deposits in Unit 2 that have been
deposited in this location during the period from 1875 to 1931.

In summary, the excavation of Units 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8,
10, 11, and 12 revealed that the terrace the lower facto-
ry was constructed on is a man-made feature. The exca-
vation of these units revealed that there are three levels
of soil associated with the 1875 to 1880 and the 1885 to
1894 factory expansions and the 1900 to 1905 modifi-
cation of these structures into multiple-story buildings.
The deposition of over 1 m (3.3 ft) of soil created the
terrace that is currently adjacent to the east side of the
Wallkill River. The artifacts recovered from these
deposits represent the construction and modification of
the various buildings as well as the manufacturing of
knives during the period from 1875 to 1931.
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Photo 24. View south of the 1875 to 1880 wall in Unit 10 and the four levels of soil that were
deposited from 1875 to 1931 to create the terrace the lower factory complex was constructed on.

Photo 25. View north of the 1856 to 1875 soil level and waterline in Unit 12.
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inscription was chalked in for the photo.
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Figure 18. North profile of Unit 3.

Figure 19. The plan view of the brick and concrete floor in Unit 3.
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Figure 21. South profile of Unit 4.
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Figure 23. South profile of Unit 7.
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Feature 7. Feature 7 was originally the eastern third of a
large one-story storage building that was constructed
during the 1885 to 1894 expansion of the lower factory
complex. During the 1900 to 1905 modification Feature
7 was converted into a one-story drop shop, where the
knife blades and bolster linings were stamped out of steel
and brass plates. Feature 7 is a 18.5 by 5.7-m (60 by 18e
ft) structure. Units 13 and 14 were excavated in the inte-
rior of the structure. The two units have slightly different
stratigraphic sequences, although they are only 3.5 m
(11.5 ft) apart. In Unit 13, located adjacent to the south
wall of the structure, there are two soil levels deposited
above the brick floor of the drop shop. Level 1 is a very
dark grayish brown sandy silt with coal ash that extends
from 49 to 71 cm (16 to 28 in.) below the current ground
surface. The depth of Level 1 increases to the east, or up
slope. This deposit may represent soil from the upper
factory complex carried down the slope by erosion or
slope wash. Level 2, a very dark brown sandy silt with
pieces of 